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          1  COMMITTEE ON HIGHER EDUCATION

          2                 CHAIRPERSON BARRON:  Good morning,

          3  everybody.  My name is Councilman Charles Barron.

          4  I'm Chair of the Higher Education Committee.  With

          5  that, there should have been automatic applause

          6  breaking out.  I'll accept it.  Thank you very much.

          7  Thank you, thank you, thank you.

          8                 I wanted to apologize for the delay.

          9  I actually put it on the weather, but it was doing

         10  some other things that were very, very important, so

         11  I have to confess it was not weather, Mr.

         12  Chancellor.  It was just some other business I had

         13  to take care of in the district.  But, welcome,

         14  welcome, welcome to my Committee, to Council Member

         15  Tony Avella from Queens, and give him a hand clap

         16  too.  We give hand claps around here.  Council

         17  Member Larry Seabrook from the Bronx, give him a

         18  hand clap.  Council Member Miguel Martinez, Council

         19  Member Diana Reyna.  Hold up on that, she's not on

         20  our Committee, but give a hand clap anyway.  And to

         21  Madam Wusu (phonetic) and Barbara Helms (phonetic).

         22  These are the ones that really make me appear

         23  smarter than what I really am. These are the stars

         24  of the Committee.  Please give both of them, my

         25  legal counsel and my policy analyst, they come up
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          2  with all the ideas.  I get all the credit, so I just

          3  want to thank them.  And to my staff person and

          4  former legislative director, she's working in the

          5  district now, Ms. Joy Simmons.  Give her a big hand

          6  clap.  And who's leaving us?  Veronica is moving on

          7  up.  She's moving on up in things in life, moving up

          8  in life, will be leaving our Committee, but give her

          9  a big hand clap.  We're going to miss her because

         10  she's done a lot of great work for us.   Let's give

         11  Nathan a hand clap, a new addition to our soul.

         12  Thank everybody, so thank you for your patience.

         13                 Mr. Chancellor, let me read for the

         14  record.  This is our Fiscal 2008 Budget Hearing.

         15  You know, this is an interesting budget year, a $56

         16  billion budget, $3.9 billion surplus.  Big money,

         17  huh?  Take a little $35 million out of the CUNY, $35

         18  million so students have to sweat.  Are they going

         19  to put the Vallone scholarships back?  And all of

         20  this petty cash.  That is chump change.  That's

         21  pocket change.  That's lunch money around here, but

         22  we got to battle for something, so we can divert our

         23  attention away from the real big issues and big

         24  money to talk about $35 million that they took out

         25  of the budget.  They do this every year.  It will
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          2  probably go back, and in a couple of months we'll be

          3  shaking hands on the steps of City Hall, and cameras

          4  will be grinning.  We came to a great settlement.

          5  It's the budget dance.  It happens annually.

          6                 But CUNY's going to be in good shape.

          7    We fight for CUNY all the time.  We fight for CUNY

          8  on the state level.  I think the state hopefully

          9  looks a little better for CUNY now, and if they can

         10  continue that, and we're certainly going to continue

         11  to fight on the City level.

         12                 So let me just read my official

         13  opening statement for the record.

         14                 Good morning, and welcome to the

         15  Fiscal 2008 Preliminary Budget Hearing.  I'm Charles

         16  Barron, Chair of the Higher Education Committee.

         17  Today we will be reviewing the projected budget of

         18  the City of the University of New York for the

         19  coming Fiscal Year 2008.  Chancellor Matthew

         20  Goldstein has been invited to testify before the

         21  Committee on the University's proposed expense and

         22  capital budgets and their impact on CUNY's students,

         23  faculty, administrative services and staffing.

         24                 During last year's budget

         25  negotiations, the City Council successfully diverted
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          2  cuts to the Peter Vallone Scholarship Academic

          3  Scholarships, and the Community College Safety Net

          4  Program, various other Council funded initiatives.

          5  We always avoid these cuts.

          6                 Once again, despite the Council's

          7  best efforts, the Fiscal Year 2008 Executive Budget

          8  as proposed by the Mayor does not restore the $35

          9  million in hidden cuts to CUNY.  Thus, we commence

         10  in the annual budget dance, a process by which the

         11  Council restores or adds money to the budget for

         12  vital needs and services, and Administration refuses

         13  to baseline these.  If they would just baseline

         14  this, we wouldn't have to go through this every

         15  year.  It would be a part of the permanent budget,

         16  but since they don't baseline it, they don't accept

         17  our restorations, our initiatives, and it's really a

         18  cut, but they say it's not a cut.  We're just not

         19  adding the programs from last year, whatever.  So

         20  that's where we are now.

         21                 As Chair of the Committee, we're

         22  tired of dancing to the same old tune of annual cuts

         23  to CUNY's budget.  This budget dance must end and

         24  give CUNY students what they rightly deserve, good

         25  education without the stress of worrying about how
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          2  much it will cost, particularly with the $3.9

          3  billion surplus, billion. The Committee also looks

          4  forward to receiving testimony concerning CUNY's

          5  capital budget.  I thank everyone for being here

          6  today.

          7                 I also want to mention that we are

          8  very, very concerned and want to move forward very

          9  strongly on the rebuilding of Fiterman Hall,

         10  particularly for BMCC students.  It is long overdue,

         11  and I think we're on the right track for it to

         12  happen -- the FEMA money, the insurance money, the

         13  City's commitment.  We're on the right track for

         14  that as well.

         15                 Finally, we must at some point make

         16  mega efforts 100 percent funding from the State.

         17  It's still 50/50 on the capital level.  This is

         18  ridiculous.  All four- year colleges get funded on

         19  the capital level, 100 percent from the State except

         20  for Medgar Evers.  It's the only college in the

         21  system that's a senior college, and we have to do

         22  50/50, so if the State puts in their share of the

         23  capital money, the City has to match it.  If the

         24  City doesn't match it, the money can go back.  It

         25  doesn't happen to any other college but Medgar
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          2  Evers.  That must stop.  Thank you very much.  With

          3  that, we will proceed with our hearing.  I have to

          4  give you all some lessons on the cues.  When I'm

          5  power pauses, you break with applause, right?  Thank

          6  you very much.

          7                 Absolutely.  Swear in the Chancellor.

          8    We want to make sure he tells the truth.

          9                 COUNSEL TO COMMITTEE:  Chancellor

         10  Matthew Goldstein and the panel, please raise your

         11  right hands.  Do you swear or affirm that the

         12  testimony that you are about to give today will be

         13  truthful?

         14                 CHANCELLOR GOLDSTEIN: I do.

         15                 VICE CHANCELLOR MALAVE: I do.

         16                 INTERIM VICE CHANCELLOR LOVIA: I do.

         17                 COUNSEL TO COMMITTEE:  Please state

         18  your names for the record before you begin.

         19                 VICE CHANCELLOR MALAVE:  Ernesto

         20  Malave (phonetic), Vice Chancellor for Budget and

         21  Finance.

         22                 CHANCELLOR GOLDSTEIN:  I'm Matthew

         23  Goldstein, the Chancellor of the University.

         24                 MR. LOVIA:  Eduardo Lovia, Interim

         25  Vice Chancellor for Slowly Spanning Construction.
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          2                 CHANCELLOR GOLDSTEIN:  Well, good

          3  morning.  It's good to see you, Chairman Barron and

          4  the rest of the Committee on Higher Education.  I do

          5  thank you for the opportunity to testify here before

          6  you about the City University of New York and the

          7   '08 Preliminary Budget advanced by Mayor Bloomberg.

          8                 All of us at CUNY appreciate your

          9  strong advocacy of CUNY and public higher education

         10  in general.  We look forward to working with the

         11  Council to ensure the continuing progress that you

         12  and the rest of the City have come to expect of us.

         13                 With your support, CUNY has

         14  accomplished much towards meeting its academic

         15  goals.  In the years since our first meeting, CUNY

         16  has evolved from a system unfortunately that was

         17  receiving harsh criticism, both fair and unfair.

         18  But today I am pleased to say that we are an

         19  integrated University that is flourishing on

         20  numerous levels.  Let me just briefly highlight a

         21  few of those points.

         22                 Our enrollment stands at the highest

         23  it has been in 31 years.  We continue to prove that

         24  raising academic standards results in our attracting

         25  and keeping more students on our campuses, students
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          2  who are better prepared for the rigors of post

          3  secondary education and then for the complex

          4  challenges facing all of us in a 21st century

          5  economy that is going to be defined by innovation

          6  and by scientific literacy.

          7                 By the end of this academic year, we

          8  hope to have added about 18 percent more faculty

          9  than we had, more full- time faculty, than we had in

         10  1999, bringing that increase to the neighborhood of

         11  about 1,000.  We are actively recruiting, as we

         12  speak, over 200 full- time faculty as well.  Many of

         13  those positions we expect to go to support our

         14  efforts in the decade of the science, something that

         15  I'd like to talk about in a little more later in my

         16  testimony.

         17                 With respect to student services, two

         18  elements deserve special mention.  First, with the

         19  help of Mayor Bloomberg's Center for Economic

         20  Opportunity, we have launched a new program,

         21  accelerated study and Associate Programs intended to

         22  help our community college students from low income

         23  backgrounds and working poor adults reach a timely

         24  graduation equipped with the kinds of skills they

         25  need in a challenging marketplace.
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          2                 Second, we have increased our

          3  services to veterans at the University, particularly

          4  those returning from service to Iraq and

          5  Afghanistan.  Our Teacher Academy, a partnership

          6  with the New York City Department of Education, is

          7  now training high achieving students in mathematics

          8  and sciences to become teachers who are being

          9  committed to returning to New York City classrooms

         10  and teach after graduation.

         11                 We thank Chancellor Joel Klein for

         12  his support of this endeavor and for the Peatree

         13  Foundation for an extraordinary level of support of

         14  about $15 million to launch this particular program.

         15                 Thanks to the work of the

         16  University's Task Force on the Black Male Initiative

         17  and to the funding you restored last year.  We've

         18  accomplished a great deal in our efforts to

         19  increase, encourage and support the inclusion and

         20  educational success of one of the most

         21  underrepresented groups in higher education, Black

         22  males.  Two University sponsored conferences within

         23  the last year have addressed these issues, and with

         24  the recent hiring of Elliot Daus to our CUNY

         25  community as the Black Male Initiative Director,
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          2  brings the initiative added expertise and energy.

          3                 Our Graduate School of Journalism is

          4  flourishing with a new class being considered for

          5  acceptance this fall, and I must tell you, Chairman

          6  Barron and the rest of you, that the students that

          7  the universities that we are competing with, and

          8  really the only universities that we are competing

          9  with here are Berkeley, University of New York,

         10  Columbia University, University of Michigan, places

         11  where there are extraordinary programs in

         12  journalism.

         13                 Our new School of Professional

         14  Studies has launched its first online baccalaureate

         15  program with large numbers of students now enrolled.

         16    These are for degree completers, people who have

         17  left the university in good academic standing, but

         18  because they live such complex lives, they find it

         19  very difficult to return to any university to

         20  complete their work.  We're pleased that we are

         21  helping them to achieve that.  We expect soon to

         22  launch a new online program in business that we

         23  think the marketplace will respond with great vigor.

         24                 On the philanthropy area, the

         25  University is pleased to announce that we've raised
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          2  now over a billion dollars towards our $1.2 billion

          3  target, just for me, an affirmation that alumni and

          4  others are looking at the University in ways that

          5  they haven't looked at the University before.

          6                 These accomplishments have required

          7  the efforts of the entire University.  CUNY's Board

          8  of Trustees, the College Presidents and other

          9  administrators and staff and, of course, our very

         10  accomplished and dedicated faculty, students and

         11  alumni all must share in the credit.  But we are not

         12  resting, nor are we arresting yet.  The goals

         13  enumerated in the University's State approved '04

         14   '08 Master Plan remain priorities throughout this

         15  University.  These include having 70 percent of

         16  instruction provided by full- time faculty,

         17  enhancing our research environment with facilities,

         18  equipment and support for cutting edge scholarship

         19  and providing the best academic opportunities to

         20  challenge every one of our students.

         21                 Not surprisingly then, our six

         22  community colleges occupy a key role in CUNY's

         23  future.  These colleges have recorded a 12.1 percent

         24  increase in new students just in the years 2002

         25  through 2006 and are managing the programs and
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          2  services needed to support and educate our students.

          3    Over the past year alone, we have added over 120

          4  full- time faculty to our community college campuses

          5  to broaden and deepen our academic offerings.

          6                 But meeting the goals of our growing

          7  student population remains a significant challenge.

          8  The City's Preliminary Budget for '08 recommends

          9  City support for the community colleges of a little

         10  over $181 million, which is about $6 million less

         11  than recommended in the '07 budget.

         12                 At a time when the University remains

         13  more focused than ever on growth, long- time

         14  investment and continued academic renewal, we find

         15  this proposed reduction particularly dispiriting and

         16  discouraging.

         17                 As you will recall, last year CUNY

         18  recommended a fresh approach to financing long- term

         19  investment in the University, the CUNY Compact.

         20  Compact calls for funding to be shared by the State

         21  and the City, the University, philanthropic sources,

         22  students, and others to enhance our needs for

         23  revenue.  The plan asks the State and the City to

         24  commit to fully funding the University's mandatory

         25  costs and a portion of the programmatic priorities
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          2  in our academic plan.  Any tuition increase would go

          3  exclusively toward funding CUNY investment

          4  initiatives with recommendations from CUNY's faculty

          5  and students.  They are the partners.  They need to

          6  have a voice in how the dollars are being spent.

          7                 Our Board of Trustees unanimously

          8  adopted the Compact, and its approach has earned

          9  widespread praise, not only here in New York State,

         10  but across the nation.  It offers a sensible

         11  strategy to match our long- term academic plan to a

         12  long term financial plan.

         13                 To this end, we must emphasize that

         14  increased City support for CUNY's community colleges

         15  through the Compact remains critical to this

         16  University.  Only with the City's continuing

         17  investment in public higher education at CUNY can we

         18  continue to trigger investment from other sources.

         19  Only if the City sustains public higher education as

         20  a public priority can we expect other partners to do

         21  the same.  Our students, faculty, staff, alumni,

         22  friends and business partners have demonstrated

         23  renew and generous support for this University, but

         24  we cannot expect them to shoulder a disproportionate

         25  share of funding this great public urban university.
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          2                 Thus, Mr. Chairman and Members of the

          3  Committee, we must address the Preliminary Budget's

          4  recommended $14.6 million reduction in our community

          5  colleges' operating budget.  This reduction strikes

          6  a serious blow to our community colleges' core

          7  operation.  It shrinks their capacity to offer

          8  classes when our students, many of whom come from

          9  working poor, need them, and it limits their ability

         10  to increase the percentage of instruction taught by

         11  full- time faculty.

         12                 We are also deeply concerned about

         13  the proposed reductions of $11.2 million for the

         14  Peter F. Vallone City Council Scholarships and the

         15  $4.5 million for the New York City Council Safety

         16  Net Program.  These reductions would eliminate both

         17  programs.  The loss of funding for the Vallone

         18  Scholarship, scholarships in the Safety Net Program

         19  comes as we are having increased numbers of students

         20  depending on precisely these sources of financial

         21  assistance.  Let there be no mistake.  If these

         22  programs are not going to be reinstated, we will

         23  lose students to the community colleges, something I

         24  know you don't want, and certainly something that we

         25  cannot tolerate.
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          2                 Let us consider for a moment in more

          3  detail the Vallone Scholarships.  Given to students

          4  who graduated with a B average from New York City

          5  high schools and who maintain that B average at the

          6  University, these scholarships encourage high

          7  achieving young people to stay in New York City to

          8  continue their education, and we are pleased to have

          9  a number of these talented young people current

         10  Vallone Scholars with us present at this Hearing,

         11  Mr. Chairman, and I'd like to acknowledge their

         12  presence this morning.

         13                 Think about this, Mr. Chairman and

         14  Members of the Committee, since 1998, about $80

         15  million has been disbursed to Vallone Scholars,

         16  distributed among 116,000 students.  Just imagine if

         17  that program was not in place how many of those

         18  students would not have been able to attend this

         19  great University.  We just have to make sure that

         20  this important program continues.

         21                 Also in 2005- 06 more than 15,000 of

         22  our most needy community college students received

         23  funding from the Safety Net Program, helping them to

         24  continue their advanced studies at CUNY. Losing this

         25  program would create an enormous burden on most of
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          2  our most vulnerable students.  To repeat a message I

          3  expressed when I first proposed CUNY's Compact, this

          4  partnership will work only if our most needy

          5  students are held out of harm's way, that is, if

          6  their financial assistance protects them from even

          7  modest tuition increases.  We simply must strengthen

          8  our commitment to scholarship and assistance

          9  programs if we are to maintain the promise of

         10  educational opportunity upon which so many CUNY

         11  students and so many children of this great State

         12  depend.

         13                 I must note, regrettably, that the

         14  Preliminary Budget eliminates funding for important

         15  initiatives across the University, including the

         16  Black Male Initiative, which, as I mentioned

         17  earlier, has had impressive strides thanks, in part,

         18  significance to the restored funding that we thank

         19  you for helping us with.

         20                 Including also the CUNY Citizenship

         21  and Immigration Project, which continues to serve

         22  not only our own faculty and students, but

         23  communities throughout the City as well and many

         24  others.  These programs and centers serve thousands

         25  of students, faculty and residents of New York City.
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          2    They provide much needed opportunities, often for

          3  those from underserved populations to gain access to

          4  advanced study and career development.  We ask quite

          5  simply, restore the funding for those programs.

          6                 We also request a $7.3 million

          7  enhancement, the largest proportion of which will be

          8  used to fund student services, improvements at our

          9  community colleges.  It will offer operational

         10  support for child care, health services, women's

         11  centers, outreach to uninsured students and other

         12  resource programs.  We know that it is often these

         13  vital programs that enable students to complete

         14  their studies in a timely way.  Funds will also

         15  support the hiring of additional full- time faculty

         16  and staff in the student services area.  Other

         17  portions of enhancement funds will strengthen and

         18  expand two programs whose success I've already

         19  mentioned, again, the Black Male Initiative and the

         20  Immigration Project.

         21                 Let me move for a moment, Mr.

         22  Chairman, to the capital side.  The University

         23  remains grateful for its first multi year

         24  appropriation from the City.  That was a big event

         25  for this University, and its spirit and intent must
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          2  be continued.  We remember that your support and

          3  recommendations were very influential in the Mayor's

          4  decision to make the important appropriation, and we

          5  thank you again for your work on behalf of this

          6  University.

          7                 As you know, we received multi- year

          8  appropriations from the State in 1998 and again in

          9  2003 for community colleges and Medgar Evers

         10  College.  These commitments to five-year capital

         11  plans allow the University to plan and implement

         12  building projects with certainty, something that is

         13  not possible when funding assurances are limited to

         14  the existing budget.

         15                 Additionally, we greatly appreciate

         16  the support CUNY receives each year through

         17  appropriations directly from this Council and the

         18  Borough Presidents.  At this time the capital

         19  program for the community colleges and Medgar Evers

         20  College totals about $600 million comprising both

         21  State and City funding.  Even with this substantial

         22  program, however, the colleges' capital needs are

         23  just not being met.

         24                 In particular, we need about $37.5

         25  million to complete two specific projects, the
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          2  replacement of Fiterman Hall for Borough of

          3  Manhattan Community College and the construction of

          4  the Academic One Building at Medgar Evers College.

          5  These additional funds are necessary to address

          6  higher estimates for the cost demolition and

          7  hazardous materials abatement at Fiterman Hall,

          8  which we are removing in very controlled increments,

          9  and to address cost escalations, impacting the

         10  construction industry, something that everybody in

         11  this room is aware of.  Further, these costs, as you

         12  know, are exacerbated by the effects of Hurricane

         13  Katrina and Rita and the reconstruction efforts in

         14  the Gulf region.

         15                 Our request also includes about $12.8

         16  million that will be distributed across the

         17  community colleges for projects at the campuses,

         18  including the first phase of mechanical

         19  infrastructure upgrades at Bronx Community College

         20  and continuing CUNY- wide corrections of health and

         21  safety deficiencies identified in the building

         22  condition assessment survey conducted in the 1990's.

         23                 Quite simply, Mr. Chairman and

         24  Members of the Committee, we need City funding to

         25  move forward on these projects. Our community
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          2  colleges and Medgar Evers College serve over 52,000

          3  full- time equivalent students in 113 buildings

          4  comprising more than 7.1 million gross square feet.

          5  It's no surprise that physical plants of such size

          6  require substantial commitments for their

          7  maintenance.

          8                 We are grateful for the support we

          9  receive from the City, but let us remember that CUNY

         10  repays this investment on a day- to- day basis with

         11  an array of very impressive public services. Just

         12  briefly, our citizenship and immigration outreach

         13  program, our relationship with the Daily News and

         14  the CUNY Daily News Citizen now call- in, the CUNY

         15  311 project with the City's citizen service center,

         16  our work with a volunteer corps with the Department

         17  of Consumer Affairs helping people with earned tax

         18  income credit seminars.  Our University continues to

         19  register more voters than any other City agency in

         20  this City, and I would say in this State.

         21                 These are just a few examples of how

         22  CUNY breaks the boundary in helping the community in

         23  very significant ways. Chairman Barron and the rest

         24  of the Committee, we deeply appreciate all of you

         25  have done to assist us in fulfilling our mission in
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          2  the past, and we deeply, enthusiastically look

          3  forward to continuing our work to build a beautiful

          4  and lasting partnership.  Thank you very much.

          5                 CHAIRPERSON BARRON:  We thank you

          6  very much for your testimony, and a couple of my

          7  colleagues do have questions, but I just have a few.

          8    One, I always want to get a sense of the larger,

          9  but is the -- could you break down CUNY's total

         10  budget with what they get from the City, State

         11  funding and other fundings, just in those three

         12  major categories, City, State and other fundings.

         13                 CHANCELLOR GOLDSTEIN:  Our budget is

         14  about $2.1 billion.  When you factor in the amount

         15  of money that we spend on research and training

         16  activities, that number goes up to the order of

         17  magnitude of slightly under $2.5 billion, but I

         18  would call the $3.5 to $4 million sort of the

         19  balance sheet of the State and the City.  Of that

         20  $2.1 billion that is government funding and support

         21  from areas like tuition, about $1.1 billion is State

         22  funded.  About $220 million comes from the City, and

         23  about $775 million against that base of $2.1 is

         24  derived from tuition and fee revenue.  The total

         25  budget for the community colleges, which is
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          2  obviously a subset of the $2.1 billion, is

          3  approximately $537 million split among three

          4  constituencies, 163 coming from the State, about 188

          5  provided by the City and about $186 million

          6  generated from student tuition and fees.

          7                 CHAIRPERSON BARRON:  You know I want

          8  to get to free tuition.  We'll have a whole hearing

          9  on that to see whether the economic impact of free

         10  tuition, economic feasibility of it, you know.  I'm

         11  always perplexed in how they were able to have free

         12  tuition in the past.  I know it was a smaller

         13  university, but also it was a wider university.  I

         14  noticed when it was that, we had free tuition, and

         15  now, well, I'm going to have a hearing on it, so you

         16  don't have to get into that too deeply now, but I do

         17  want to explore the fiscal feasibility of moving to

         18  a free tuition university and seeing if the tuition

         19  is putting in six, what did you say $600 million?

         20                 CHANCELLOR GOLDSTEIN:  About $775.

         21                 CHAIRPERSON BARRON:  $775 on tuition,

         22  and how can that be made up some other way,

         23  especially since a lot of the community students are

         24  either getting TAP and different kinds of grants,

         25  what would happen if that money went into CUNY's
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          2  budget and eliminated the tuition, but that's a

          3  whole other hearing.

          4                 I wanted to ask you about the Compact

          5  program.  My real concerns have always been, of

          6  course, the incremental increases in tuition in

          7  there, but the more we do the Compact, the more

          8  we're letting the State off the hook with their

          9  commitment to public dollars -- a greater amount of

         10  public dollars if we keep committing the private

         11  dollar.  I know you have do some private dollars,

         12  but the more we present plans to the State,

         13  especially now since the Republicans, the Democrats

         14  are gaining influence in the State, I just want to

         15  make sure that we get more from the public sector,

         16  and part of that impact program, that Compact

         17  program that it doesn't increase the private sector

         18  commitments, and then maybe moving the University at

         19  some point to privatization.  It's a real concern of

         20  mine.

         21                 CHANCELLOR GOLDSTEIN:  Mr. Chairman,

         22  let me give you my perspective on this.  First,

         23  without question this is a University that has been

         24  disadvantaged over a very long period of time with

         25  respect to public investment and higher education.
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          2  The data are very clear.  It's something that I have

          3  spoken passionately about.  I know that you know the

          4  numbers as well as I know the numbers, and I think

          5  all of us have to find a way to increase public

          6  investment in this University.  It really hasn't

          7  happened to the level that it has happened in other

          8  States, and we have to work very hard to do it.

          9                 I believe that the Compact is a

         10  vehicle to unleash public investment in this

         11  University.  We could talk about the levels, and the

         12  Compact certainly has the capacity to leverage

         13  different amounts of dollars, so that I don't think

         14  is the problem. But I think the way the world is

         15  today, and where I see higher education going across

         16  the United States and abroad as well, is that there

         17  needs to be leverage brought into the system to

         18  unleash energy, which will unleash dollars.

         19                 I think the Compact is a way to do

         20  it, and we're going to continue to try to encourage

         21  that kind of investment.  I don't think we're

         22  letting the State off.  I think if you look at the

         23  history, just the time that I've been in this

         24  particular job, the Compact, in a very short period

         25  of time, has shown a capacity to generate investment
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          2  that we didn't have during Democratic

          3  administrations and during Republican

          4  administrations, so I think it's invariant with

          5  respect to who is really in power.

          6                 I just think that we need a fresh

          7  approach to incentivize all sorts of stakeholders to

          8  put some money on the table.  I think it would be a

          9  very bad idea to use your phrase to privatize this

         10  University.  It's happening in some parts of the

         11  United States.  You look at place like the

         12  University of Virginia or a place like the

         13  University of Michigan.  Those are two examples, but

         14  the University of Texas at Austin, the University of

         15  North Carolina at Chapel Hill, some of the great

         16  flagship universities that are doing very, very

         17  distinguished work, are moving more towards that.  I

         18  don't think that model is appropriate for New York,

         19  certainly at CUNY in New York City.

         20                 CHAIRPERSON BARRON:  Not to cut you,

         21  but that's part of my concern is that the Compact

         22  plan has three major components, I think the private

         23  sector, the public sector and the tuition.

         24                 CHANCELLOR GOLDSTEIN:  And the

         25  University.
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          2                 CHAIRPERSON BARRON:  And the

          3  University.  So I'm just concerned that the more

          4  they say, show us a plan.  We want to see how much

          5  you're going to do.  And the better you do with

          6  private money.  It's not like they have a

          7  maintenance of effort to say, look, no matter what

          8  you do, we're going to still do this and better.

          9  I'm just concerned that the more we increase with

         10  the private sector, that the more they'll be

         11  justifying some kind of decrease with public money.

         12  But we could move on beyond that.

         13                 I also wanted to find out more

         14  information on the Commission for Economic

         15  Opportunity.  Some of those programs you're talking

         16  about, how solid is the commitment?  How long is the

         17  commitment going to be?  Are these multi- year

         18  commitments just for Fiscal '08?  Any conversations

         19  you've had on that?

         20                 CHANCELLOR GOLDSTEIN:  Yes.  Let me

         21  talk about that. This University really was the

         22  recipient of dollars to do three particular

         23  programs, the ASAP program, the Accelerated Study

         24  and Associate Programs, which I'll talk about in

         25  just a minute, which is the major amount of money,
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          2  the CUNY prep program, which is a very innovative

          3  way to get students who are older than students in

          4  high school to get their GED, and then presumably go

          5  on to university life, and the last is the Civic

          6  Justice Corps, which is really pass through money.

          7  It's money that comes into John J. College but is

          8  distributed.

          9                 The ASA Program, I must admit, is

         10  something that occurred to me, and it was an idea

         11  driven by my frustration that when we look at

         12  graduation rates across community colleges in the

         13  United States, we find that only about 18 percent of

         14  the students graduate in three years.  The numbers

         15  do not improve that much when we go out to four and

         16  five years.  Let there be no mistake, graduation is

         17  important.  Graduation confers a credential that the

         18  marketplace understands and absorbs, and unless we

         19  can give students an opportunity to get their

         20  degrees, those students are disadvantaged.

         21                 The question that we would ask is,

         22  why is it that graduation rates are as low as they

         23  are at community colleges? It's very complex, but it

         24  can be distilled down to two major reasons.  One is

         25  financial.  Many of the students that come to our
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          2  community colleges, by virtue of the complexity in

          3  their lives, must work while they are going to

          4  school.  So just envision a student at Bronx

          5  Community College or Borough of Manhattan Community

          6  College that wakes up in the morning, goes to one of

          7  these campuses, takes a course, then has to run to

          8  some other part of the City to get a job because

          9  they got to put food on the table, or help to

         10  support the rent, but they have this deep desire to

         11  get on with their education.  They come running back

         12  in the afternoon. Courses may not be available when

         13  they want to take them.  So they have constraints on

         14  managing taking courses, making progress towards

         15  their degree, but also the work that they have to do

         16  to support their family.

         17                 The second part of the reason that

         18  community colleges have low graduation rates is

         19  that, on balance, many of these students come in

         20  poorly prepared for college- level work, and they

         21  need to be remediated with courses that they should

         22  have taken in high school and gotten them ready, but

         23  for a variety of reasons, that did not happen.

         24                 This ASAP program is a program that

         25  tries to deal with both of those particular effects

                                                            31

          1  COMMITTEE ON HIGHER EDUCATION

          2  that minimize the likelihood that a student is going

          3  to be successful.  Mayor Bloomberg and I sat down

          4  several months ago.  I talked to him about this

          5  program. He has made a three- year commitment of $20

          6  million.

          7                 We are going to have 1,000 students

          8  starting in September across all six of our

          9  community colleges.  We're going to have block

         10  programming.  The students will know that the

         11  courses are there.  They will get their tutoring.

         12  They will get their homework done.  The courses will

         13  be in place, and if they have to leave in the

         14  afternoon to find a job, we will help them find

         15  employment, but, most importantly, when they leave,

         16  they know their work is done.  They've accomplished

         17  their assignments.  They don't have to worry about,

         18  am I going to have to stay up to 2, 3 o'clock in the

         19  morning to write a theme or to do some math

         20  programs? They'll get it done while they're in

         21  school.  And then we're going to reverse it where

         22  students come in the afternoon, have that same kind

         23  of block program, but if they want to work in the

         24  morning, we can help them find employment.

         25                 What we are betting on is that this
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          2  different approach to addressing community colleges

          3  will increase graduation rates from where they are

          4  to a much larger level.  I think this is so

          5  important, Chairman Barron, because if we can

          6  convince the wider community that students can

          7  indeed graduate in a timely way, I think this will

          8  wake up sleeping voices to start to talk about the

          9  importance of community colleges in higher

         10  education, and I think it will result in more

         11  support for community colleges, which we desperately

         12  need, especially to hire full- time faculty and

         13  support services, so it's a pilot program.  It is

         14  innovative.  It is different.  We don't know of

         15  anybody else that is doing it, but we're hoping that

         16  we can achieve the benchmarks that we have

         17  established for this program and look forward to

         18  talking with you as the program gains traction.

         19                 CHAIRPERSON BARRON:  Let me get some

         20  clarity on Black student enrollment, or Black male

         21  student enrollment.  Is it up or down?  I know they

         22  say it was down at some major colleges. CUNY- wide,

         23  what is the status of a Black male or a Black

         24  student in general enrollment?

         25                 CHANCELLOR GOLDSTEIN:  I am pleased
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          2  to tell you that we have record enrollments of Black

          3  students and Hispanic and Latino students at the

          4  City University of New York, in part, because the

          5  overall increase has occurred.  I continue to worry,

          6  and I am saying this very straight, and I am one of

          7  the few people not afraid to talk about this.  There

          8  is an asymmetry between African American women and

          9  African American men in the way they are successful

         10  at City University and the way that they are

         11  successful across the United States.  This is a

         12  serious problem that requires serious people at a

         13  great urban university like the City University to

         14  get their arms around.  I don't know anybody else

         15  that is attacking this problem head on, and I think

         16  the problem is so serious that unless we address it,

         17  we are going to have large numbers of Black men that

         18  are going to not be able to get the kind of

         19  employment that they need, not be able to support

         20  the families that they want to have, not be able to

         21  do the things that they want and deserve in their

         22  life.  And that's why I plead with you to do what

         23  you can to get that funding for the Black Male

         24  Initiative.  It is critically important to this

         25  City.  It is critically important to the social
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          2  fabric of this City and this nation.  It is

          3  important, and we have to address that the problem

          4  is there, and we have the tools to make some

          5  positive changes.

          6                 CHAIRPERSON BARRON:  We're going to

          7  continue to fight for the Black Male Initiative, but

          8  outside of that $1.5 million, $2 million, whatever

          9  we get from there, I'm talking about integrated into

         10  the University as a whole, not just that special

         11  initiative, because we're going to fight for that,

         12  and I believe we're going to be successful.  But

         13  what is being done, beyond the Black Male

         14  Initiative, that's anything integrated into the

         15  University's policies or budget or program, thrust

         16  to deal with that issue?

         17                 CHANCELLOR GOLDSTEIN:  We are

         18  actively recruiting throughout the City.  Black men

         19  are in our scope.  We try to sit with them.

         20                 CHAIRPERSON BARRON:  Don't say scope

         21  because scope is not a good word for us because what

         22  the police are doing with us out here in the scopes,

         23  so that just makes us nervous.

         24                 CHANCELLOR GOLDSTEIN:  This is

         25  important that we sit down with advisors, college
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          2  advisors, with high school principals and assistant

          3  principals.  We visit so many schools to talk about

          4  the importance of education.  Our College Now

          5  Program, which is an enormous success, we have

          6  something like 50,000 students across 220 high

          7  schools in the City of New York is a wonderful

          8  vehicle to engage young Black men to think seriously

          9  about coming to this University to continue their

         10  education  So we are operating on lots and lots of

         11  different levels to try to remedy this problem.

         12                 CHAIRPERSON BARRON:  I just wanted to

         13  ask you also about the tuition assistance program.

         14  The Governor has proposed the elimination of the use

         15  the ability to benefit test in terms of the academic

         16  eligibility for TAP.  What does that mean?  What

         17  impact will that have in the governor eliminating

         18  the ability to benefit test?

         19                 CHANCELLOR GOLDSTEIN:  I don't think

         20  that's going to be the real problem here.  What I

         21  worry about is a much deeper problem, a problem of

         22  trying to get away from means testing.  At the end

         23  of the day TAP, the way that I look at the world,

         24  TAP should be for students that need the money in

         25  order to maintain their matriculation.  It is not,
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          2  should not be thought of as extra cash that is put

          3  into the pockets of middle or upper middle class

          4  families to enable people to do more things with

          5  their life.  It should be, first and foremost, about

          6  the ability to give the financial sustenance to

          7  students that if that were not there, they would

          8  have to make other decisions in their life.

          9                 And there are proposals being

         10  forwarded now through the Senate, not on the

         11  Assembly, but on the Senate, that basically will

         12  increase income eligibility for TAP, minimum awards

         13  and things of that particular nature, that would not

         14  have the kind of positive effect on our students,

         15  but would have a positive effect on students of a

         16  much higher income level.  I think that's bad public

         17  policy, and I would like to see TAP very, very much

         18  structured so that it is truly need based.  You need

         19  this money, and you want to go to school, and you're

         20  motivated and you can get in, that's where the money

         21  should be going.

         22                 CHAIRPERSON BARRON:  We always have a

         23  battle on TAP on restructuring, and I'm sure we'll

         24  have another one on that, but I will open it up to

         25  my colleagues, Council Member Seabrook has some
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          2  questions for you, and then Council Member Martinez.

          3                 COUNCIL MEMBER SEABROOK:  Thank you,

          4  Mr. Chairman. Thank you.  Chancellor, just a couple

          5  of questions that I have. First of all, I certainly

          6  want to thank you for taking the initiative in

          7  implementing the Black Male Initiative.  I think

          8  that it's certainly great and that Elliott is a

          9  fantastic person to have there, but my concerns are

         10  your concerns, but I think I have something that you

         11  should think about as you're looking at this. You

         12  don't probably have to answer it now, but some

         13  thought is that you have a teacher's academy, and in

         14  some way you need to attach this Black Male

         15  Initiative to this teacher's academy because we're

         16  suffering in the middle schools where our kids are

         17  failing because there are no Black male teachers

         18  there, so this initiative would have a tremendous

         19  impact and outcome on the future of those who are

         20  going to graduate from high school and become CUNY

         21  students.

         22                 So I think that some of this with an

         23  initiative, and hopefully we can add some to this,

         24  that it has to be tied to this teacher's academy

         25  because that's where need is, and that's where jobs
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          2  are, and we have not produced the people.  And you

          3  have the warehouse to do it, so now we have to begin

          4  to re- direct with some creativity as to how we are

          5  going to make this teacher's academy to focus on

          6  where there's a need of Black male teachers, Latino,

          7  male teachers in the public school system where our

          8  kids fail, and there's a real issue and a problem

          9  we're looking at.

         10                 So I think, you don't have to answer

         11  it now, but I think you need to look at that and

         12  bring it back, so that we will have something to

         13  talk about, and it would allow me to be more

         14  enthusiastic when I see an attachment other than

         15  just saying that we're just trying to save this guy

         16  other than providing him with an opportunity to feed

         17  his family for the rest of his life and to be a

         18  part.

         19                 Secondly, this issue with the Civic

         20  Justice Corps, I think it's an excellent idea, but I

         21  have some concerns.  If we're going to use this

         22  program to have people in the Parks Department and

         23  other places just to kind of do what they normally

         24  do in web programs, I think it would not be to

         25  service.  I think what you need to do is to look at
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          2  a Civic Justice Corps.  You're getting ready to

          3  spend billions of dollars in construction, just in

          4  your structured institution where you all have some

          5  say so, some control of, not all, but when you're

          6  talking about Borough of Manhattan, you're taking

          7  about Medgar Evers, you're talking about Bronx

          8  Community.  There's billions of dollars of

          9  construction, and that some way of attaching this

         10  program to that jobs program and working with those

         11  unions, and having that opportunity to bring them

         12  within, then it's a truly meaningful program of

         13  providing them. Because it's construction that's

         14  there and other means of employment that could best

         15  be suited, and you're not taking a job away from a

         16  civil servant who's already there to eliminate from

         17  the budget in terms of all of the things that they

         18  provide because these people are not going to be

         19  provided with healthcare and all these other things.

         20                 So I think that we have to look at

         21  this and not allow this to happen as it happened in

         22  the Parks Department and other places, so I would

         23  have some serious concerns about it unless we were

         24  putting them into DEP where's going to be a

         25  tremendous amount of work, where there's going to be
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          2  the CUNY construction, EDC, school construction

          3  where they're going to be building a tremendous

          4  amount of schools.  So I think that the level of how

          5  you place them into real, meaningful jobs and the

          6  creativity of doing that is going to be meaningful.

          7                 Secondly, and lastly, to go back to

          8  the Black Male Initiative, is, will determination is

          9  going to deal with the systematic elimination of

         10  Black men into jobs?  They are considered a threat

         11  to people, so therefore people do not hire them and

         12  as a comfort level would hire Black women than Black

         13  men, and this is also a means of not allowing him to

         14  be the man in the family.

         15                 So what has to happen is, you can

         16  create these individuals in this Black Male

         17  Initiative also, because your level of hiring for

         18  Black males into the City University as it relates

         19  to those new faculty members can have some

         20  improvement, and you can make a tremendous impact by

         21  preparing them and tracking them to become a part of

         22  increasing that number from 35 to 50, and that would

         23  be a tremendous impact of providing an opportunity.

         24                 Because Black males who go into these

         25  programs, one out of maybe a thousand may get a job
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          2  at the City University as a professor, and I think

          3  that that's where we really have to really look at

          4  it if we're talking about being serious about

          5  dealing with this initiative.  We've studied it, but

          6  there are ways in which we can make these things

          7  happen, and certainly where we have the impact, the

          8  will and the control of what has to be done.

          9                 So those are my concerns that I have,

         10  but I think overall that you have an excellent

         11  person, as I said, with Elliot and what you're

         12  committed to do, but I think that we need to step

         13  out of the box and look at what has to be done and

         14  what can be done in a tremendous impact in this

         15  City.

         16                 CHANCELLOR GOLDSTEIN:  I would,

         17  Councilman Seabrook, there's much of what you said

         18  that I very much agree with.  With respect to your

         19  first point, the BMI, the Black Male Initiative, is

         20  not stand alone and exists on the sidelines of what

         21  happens at the University.  It was thought of and

         22  designed to integrate deeply into the very fabric of

         23  the University to get more African American men to

         24  study teaching and get into the teaching force, to

         25  encourage Black men to go on and get graduate work
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          2  to become faculty members. At the end of the day, if

          3  we can credential, recruit, maintain and get Black

          4  men to get their degrees, I think this will have a

          5  very, very positive impact on employment patterns

          6  and lead to these gentlemen to really have the kinds

          7  of lives that all of us would like to see them have.

          8                 With respect to the City Civic

          9  Justice Corps, I like some of the ideas that you've

         10  presented, and we'll go back and take a look at some

         11  of this and see how we can perhaps re- orient it, or

         12  tweak it a bit because I think your points are well

         13  taken.

         14                 CHAIRPERSON BARRON:  Council Member

         15  Martinez?

         16                 COUNCIL MEMBER MARTINEZ:  Thank you,

         17  Mr. Chair. Chancellor, I also want to echo Council

         18  Member Seabrook's concern in regards to the Civic

         19  Justice Corps.  My concern being more in terms of

         20  the word "temporary" and not permanent jobs for ex

         21  offenders.  I would just say that this also sounds

         22  very familiar, if not identical, to some of the

         23  efforts that we at the Black Latino Asian Caucus

         24  have been working on through workforce development,

         25  and so forth where we put some money in the budget
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          2  to address the high unemployment in our communities,

          3  from youth who are aging out of foster care to ex-

          4  offenders in our communities, in helping them become

          5  employable and also provide for their families and

          6  be productive members of our community.

          7                 So I would encourage also to be part

          8  of that dialogue with you and Larry to see how we

          9  could, now have we have CUNY on board with a similar

         10  program, see how we could tie some of the work that

         11  we've done with Council Member Barron as Chair of

         12  the Workforce Development initiative here at the

         13  Council.

         14                 Having said that, I also want to

         15  thank you for the initiative that I think will be

         16  the first to open up in my district, which is the

         17  office of CUNY where we're going to have a visible

         18  presence of CUNY in a district like mine that even

         19  though we don't have a campus there, we'll have a

         20  visible presence of CUNY through an office that will

         21  be giving guidance, information, counseling,

         22  immigration services coming directly from CUNY,

         23  giving young people an opportunity to get

         24  information even to enroll into the different

         25  various CUNY campuses.
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          2                 But most importantly, strategically

          3  where you decided to open up this office, also sends

          4  a strong message and is very important for our youth

          5  that before going up to the military recruitment

          6  office, there's a recruitment office for CUNY that

          7  also provides opportunity for one to study without

          8  having to go the army.  So study first, and then

          9  think of the army, I think is the strong message

         10  we're sending, so I want to commend you on that and

         11  your entire staff.  Everyone is excited about it.  I

         12  know that in my state of the district, it is one of

         13  the points that I highlighted and immediately

         14  received a lot of comments and then questioning

         15  about when is the office going to open up, so I will

         16  ask Jay to start cutting the ribbon soon.  So I want

         17  to thank you for that.

         18                 Now, I just want to ask several

         19  questions on some of your testimony.  In reference

         20  to the $7.3 million enhancement that you're asking,

         21  which is kind of coupled up with childcare, health

         22  services, women's center and also the uninsured

         23  students, which I believe we've had several hearings

         24  on these issues.  You also mentioned that from the

         25  $7.3 some of those monies would be used for new
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          2  hires, is that correct?

          3                 CHANCELLOR GOLDSTEIN:  That is

          4  correct.

          5                 COUNCIL MEMBER MARTINEZ:  Is that

          6  full- time faculty?

          7                 CHANCELLOR GOLDSTEIN:  Yes.

          8                 COUNCIL MEMBER MARTINEZ:  I mean

          9  full- time faculty for classroom, academic

         10  instructions, or full- time faculty for the various

         11  programs highlighted here?

         12                 CHANCELLOR GOLDSTEIN:  Full- time

         13  faculty where the needs are for that particular

         14  campus and academic support services. That would be

         15  very fundamental.  The dominant amount of that money

         16  would be used for academic support services for

         17  students and pedagogy for the hiring of full- time

         18  faculty in academic disciplines, and I can't tell

         19  you which the disciplines are because each

         20  particular campus has a particular need, and the

         21  President and academic officers and faculty will

         22  meet collectively to put their heads together to see

         23  what is the best way to invest those dollars.

         24                 COUNCIL MEMBER MARTINEZ:  The faculty

         25  being hired or expected to be hired, does that
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          2  include faculty also that would be needed for the

          3  Mayor's initiatives, such as the Accelerated Study

          4  Associate Program?

          5                 CHANCELLOR GOLDSTEIN:  No, that is

          6  money over and beyond.  That $6.4 million out of the

          7  $7.3 million enhancements are money beyond the ASAP

          8  program.  The ASAP program is not built into our

          9  base.

         10                 COUNCIL MEMBER MARTINEZ:  Correct.

         11                 CHANCELLOR GOLDSTEIN:  This would be

         12  built into our base.

         13                 COUNCIL MEMBER MARTINEZ:  Correct.

         14                 CHANCELLOR GOLDSTEIN:  They both

         15  would be used for similar kinds of purposes.

         16                 COUNCIL MEMBER MARTINEZ:  So when you

         17  mentioned that 1,000 students will be served through

         18  this program --

         19                 CHANCELLOR GOLDSTEIN:  ASAP, right.

         20                 COUNCIL MEMBER MARTINEZ:  Is that

         21  CUNY- wide community colleges?  Or per campus?

         22                 CHANCELLOR GOLDSTEIN:  No, no.  It's

         23  1,000 students across the six community colleges.

         24  Remember, this is a pilot program.

         25                 COUNCIL MEMBER MARTINEZ:  Right,
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          2  exactly.  And three years, so it's not baselined.

          3  Every year the Mayor needs to be this money in here

          4  for the next three years.

          5                 CHANCELLOR GOLDSTEIN:  Well, the

          6  Mayor has made the commitment to put the money in.

          7  What we have to show is performance goals each year,

          8  which all of the money in that polity commission is

          9  embedded within.  There is a performance benchmark

         10  that has to be received.

         11                 COUNCIL MEMBER MARTINEZ:  But it's

         12  not baselined?

         13                 CHANCELLOR GOLDSTEIN:  It's not

         14  baselined.

         15                 COUNCIL MEMBER MARTINEZ:  On the

         16  request for $12.8 million in capital, across

         17  community colleges, is there a break down per campus

         18  how much money will go for campus?  I address this

         19  particular concern because, Chairman, I believe it

         20  was last year or the beginning of the year that we

         21  had a large hearing concerning the desperate needs

         22  at Bronx Community College, and most of your

         23  testimony and some of the highlights that I see

         24  here, I no direct commitment for Bronx Community

         25  College and addressing those needs.
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          2                 CHANCELLOR GOLDSTEIN:  Out of that

          3  money, slightly under $4 million will be going to

          4  Bronx Community College for the mechanical

          5  infrastructure upgrades that you just mentioned.

          6                 COUNCIL MEMBER MARTINEZ:  $4 million?

          7                 CHANCELLOR GOLDSTEIN:  About $4

          8  million, slightly under, but approximately $3.8

          9  something million.

         10                 COUNCIL MEMBER MARTINEZ:  Good.  On

         11  the 1,000 or 18 percent new faculty that were hired,

         12  how many of these attract tenure lines?

         13                 CHANCELLOR GOLDSTEIN:  These are all

         14  tenure track faculty.

         15                 COUNCIL MEMBER MARTINEZ:  I just want

         16  to ask some questions now reference in following up

         17  on the Chairman's line of questioning having to do

         18  with tuition assistance and both State and Federal.

         19  Do we expect any changes in the Pell Grants from the

         20  Federal government?

         21                 CHANCELLOR GOLDSTEIN:  There was some

         22  changes recommended that we expect, when the budget

         23  is fully adopted, will increase the amount of Pell

         24  dollars, and that will have a very significant

         25  effect.
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          2                 COUNCIL MEMBER MARTINEZ:  Will

          3  increase, not decrease?

          4                 CHANCELLOR GOLDSTEIN:  Yes, oh, no,

          5  increase. Increase, absolutely.  There are increases

          6  embedded into the Pell program that will have

          7  material benefits for our students.

          8                 COUNCIL MEMBER MARTINEZ:  And do we

          9  expect that with the new governor, and I know you

         10  addressed this, but do we expect with the new

         11  governor any changes on the State tuition assistance

         12  with the ability to benefit?  Because it was a

         13  proposal under the old Administration.  With this

         14  new Administration, have we heard anything?

         15                 CHANCELLOR GOLDSTEIN:  That's going

         16  to have a relatively minor impact on the profile of

         17  our students, but again, the thing that I think we

         18  need to watch out for here, Councilman Martinez, is

         19  an effort to re- think where the infusion of new

         20  dollars should go into TAP and what class of

         21  students that would benefit.  Some of our students

         22  would benefit, but the real dominant, majority of

         23  students would not benefit from the recommendations

         24  that are coming out of the Senate.  This was not in

         25  the governor's Executive Budget.
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          2                 COUNCIL MEMBER MARTINEZ:  Good.

          3  Chancellor, again, CUNY, once more, is leading the

          4  way and leading by example, and, again, I want to

          5  commend you for your initiative with our veterans at

          6  a time where we're reading and hearing from them

          7  directly in terms of the treatment that they're

          8  getting when they're coming back home.  It is a

          9  relief and makes me proud to be a product of CUNY to

         10  hear that CUNY's actively paying attention and doing

         11  something about it by ensuring that those

         12  individuals that are coming back from the war from

         13  serving are actually finding the doors open at CUNY.

         14    Can you tell us a little bit more about that?

         15                 CHANCELLOR GOLDSTEIN:  Well, these

         16  are largely military women and men that are fighting

         17  in Iraq and Afghanistan. We are welcoming them with

         18  enthusiasm with serious support staff because many

         19  of these women and men are coming back traumatized,

         20  feel a sense of disengagement of war that is

         21  unpopular back home. They have a whole series of

         22  issues that they're dealing with, not the least of

         23  which is just keeping up with their studies.

         24                 So we're making serious efforts to

         25  understand some of the psychological problems that
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          2  they're facing, some of the socializing back into a

          3  very different environment than what they see in

          4  Iraq and Afghanistan, and it's something that we are

          5  taking very, very seriously, and probably are doing

          6  more than I think most universities are doing.  I

          7  think for me the important thing is for them to feel

          8  welcomed, and for them to stay engaged, and for them

          9  to complete their studies and get on with their

         10  lives after the difficulties that they faced in very

         11  horrific circumstances.

         12                 COUNCIL MEMBER MARTINEZ:  And,

         13  finally, Chancellor, it may sound funny, but I'm

         14  going to ask anyway.  The reason you need more money

         15  for mental health at CUNY, is it because the price

         16  has gone up?  Or is there more need for mental

         17  health insurance at CUNY?

         18                 CHANCELLOR GOLDSTEIN:  Councilman

         19  Martinez, we need more money period.  And I'm

         20  serious.  We are out recruiting a couple of hundred

         21  faculty now.  It's very important for us to hire

         22  these faculty.  We're projecting that by the end of

         23  this year we will have increased our full- time

         24  faculty on the order of 1,000. You have in flows and

         25  out flows.  We lose faculty that we have in place,
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          2  in part because they're able to get jobs where the

          3  salaries are higher elsewhere.  This is an expensive

          4  City to live.  Housing is expensive.  We have

          5  formidable challenges.  When I look at our

          6  colleagues at Columbia and NYU, not only do they pay

          7  higher salaries, but the teaching load is less, but

          8  they also provide housing subsidies.

          9                 So this the kind of market that we

         10  are fighting in. We are making a big effort in

         11  science, so it's not just paying the salaries of

         12  faculty, but it's also giving start- up costs for

         13  laboratories.  So when you say, we need money for

         14  mental health, yes, but there isn't an area in the

         15  University where I can say we are flush with

         16  dollars.

         17                 We're not looking to reach for the

         18  sky.  What we do want is to have an adequate

         19  financial base so that we compete for the best

         20  scholar teachers, we can retain the best scholar

         21  teachers, and most importantly that the experiences

         22  that our students get are as good as they can get at

         23  any other institution we're competing with.

         24  Because, for me, my job is to provide an environment

         25  where good work occurs and great success occurs with
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          2  our students.  You have got to have money to do

          3  that.

          4                 What I worry about, Mr. Chairman,

          5  Councilman Martinez, is the gap now continues to

          6  widen between public universities and private

          7  universities.  One would like to see that gap

          8  narrowing, but that's just not the case.  It is

          9  widening.  You look at some of the endowments of

         10  major universities.  They are mind boggling in terms

         11  of the amount of money that they can deploy to do

         12  the kinds of things that we want to do.  At the end

         13  of the day, we are a public institution dominated by

         14  funds from the public trust, and that's why I

         15  continue to advocate to be aware that our obligation

         16  is to provide an environment where people can

         17  succeed. That means lots of faculty.  That means

         18  lots of classrooms.  That means good, up- to- date

         19  laboratories, and environments where people feel

         20  comfortable working with one another and to advance

         21  their goals.

         22                 COUNCIL MEMBER MARTINEZ:  Thank you,

         23  Chancellor.

         24                 CHANCELLOR GOLDSTEIN:  Thank you.

         25                 COUNCIL MEMBER MARTINEZ:  Thank you,
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          2  Mr. Chair.

          3                 CHAIRPERSON BARRON:  Council Member

          4  Reyna?

          5                 COUNCIL MEMBER REYNA:  Thank you, Mr.

          6  Chair.  I just wanted to take the opportunity to ask

          7  the Chancellor, what was the cost of this office

          8  that was opened in Washington Heights?

          9                 CHANCELLOR GOLDSTEIN:  I can get you

         10  the information.  I don't have it in front of me,

         11  but just think of the symbol.  Councilman Martinez,

         12  I think, provided a wonderful symbol. This is a

         13  storefront on 181st Street in the height of

         14  Washington Heights, and when you look at the

         15  building, on the top you see a military recruiting

         16  area, and on the bottom it's welcome to CUNY. What a

         17  powerful message that gives.  This is a modest

         18  investment. I can get you the numbers.

         19                 COUNCIL MEMBER REYNA:  Well, was it

         20  CUNY's investment?

         21                 CHANCELLOR GOLDSTEIN:  Yes.

         22                 COUNCIL MEMBER REYNA:  And the staff

         23  in the office.

         24                 CHANCELLOR GOLDSTEIN:  I was just

         25  told by Vice Chancellor Malave the order of
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          2  magnitude of construction and putting this together

          3  was a little under a million dollars.

          4                 COUNCIL MEMBER REYNA:  Thank you.

          5  And as far as the staffing of this office, do you

          6  have it -- is it your Department of Admissions?  Is

          7  it your Department of Internal Affairs?  Is it --

          8                 CHANCELLOR GOLDSTEIN:  Staffing is

          9  going to be -- it's a small space, so this is not

         10  going to have a lot of people. A lot will be re-

         11  deployed from campuses that are in that proximity,

         12  OSTOS, BCC, Lehman College, City College.  So what

         13  we try to do is to leverage our resources in a way

         14  to use the scale that we have in the University to

         15  deploy.

         16                 There will be a very small number of

         17  two or three people that we may hire dedicated

         18  specifically for that, but it's largely going to be

         19  utilizing people who have an interest in this kind

         20  of work that goes on in the campuses now.

         21                 The whole thrust of this, by the way,

         22  and when Councilman Martinez was talking about this,

         23  this is something that I feel very passionate about,

         24  about bringing the University to a community.  There

         25  are lots of folks that have difficulty getting to a
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          2  campus, getting information about the myriad of the

          3  programs that we have.  They could have

          4  disabilities.  They may have elderly parents that

          5  they have to care for.  They may have children that

          6  they can't bring with them, so the degree to which

          7  we can bring the University to where they are, with

          8  a very modest investment, I think is a very good

          9  thing on a public policy standpoint, and I think

         10  that really needs to be underscored of why we're

         11  doing this.

         12                 COUNCIL MEMBER REYNA:  And I

         13  appreciate that commitment.  I'm just curious to

         14  find out -- it's not part of your testimony, so is

         15  this a pilot program, one office and in stalls, or

         16  is this going to be an initiative that CUNY's going

         17  to embrace to expand in communities such as north

         18  Brooklyn doesn't have a CUNY institution?

         19                 CHANCELLOR GOLDSTEIN:  I will look at

         20  any part of the City.  We are looking in far

         21  Rockaway.  We have now post in Manhattan.  We are

         22  considering something in Brooklyn.  I think whatever

         23  it is that we need to do in order to engage people

         24  to the University to educate them about the myriad

         25  of programs that we have to make it easier for them
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          2  to interface with the University, I think within the

          3  kinds of resources that we have, this is what

          4  judgment is about.  Presidents and administrators

          5  need to make decisions about allocation of

          6  resources.

          7                 There are many, many needs that we

          8  have at the University.  I think something like the

          9  181st Street storefront is an enormously important

         10  symbol to have for the University, but even more

         11  fundamental, it is an area of upper Manhattan that

         12  is bursting with new people coming to live there

         13  that know little about the University, and the

         14  degree to which we can engage them and say that we

         15  care about helping you advance your lives and

         16  through this information service, which is largely

         17  what it's going to be, there may be some small

         18  seminars that we put in, but again, the space is

         19  quite limited.  I think that model is something that

         20  I would be interested in replicating on a very

         21  thoughtful basis elsewhere in the City where

         22  appropriate.

         23                 COUNCIL MEMBER REYNA:  Of course.

         24  And I'd like to see that thoughtfulness.  Just be

         25  mindful of areas that do not have the infrastructure
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          2  or the capacity to host a CUNY institution.  As much

          3  as we would love to, there are pockets of the City

          4  of New York that do not have that privilege, so

          5  that's where I would think and would consider

          6  opening up such an office.

          7                 I remembered this being a

          8  conversation in a public hearing, two, three years

          9  ago.  And so for it to just now actually be embraced

         10  and in the making, I'd like to understand whether or

         11  not this is just a one office attempt, or will there

         12  be a multiple approach in opening strategic offices.

         13    I, for one, understand there's army offices

         14  recruiting along Broadway, our major commercial

         15  corridor where we have students coming in there and

         16  signing up for the army faster than they are for

         17  college.  And there's not just one of these offices,

         18  but there's multiple along Broadway, so if you miss

         19  the first, you'll certainly engage in the second.

         20  And to combat that with the opportunity of saying,

         21  wait a minute, I have information on going to

         22  college here.  Let me go to that before I go and

         23  enroll to go to the army would be a line of defense

         24  that I'd like to see occur in our district, in our

         25  neighborhoods.
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          2                 So I ask because it's not part of

          3  your testimony, and I wasn't too sure if there's

          4  going to be for the Executive Budget an actual

          5  commitment of expanding that in the dollars.  You

          6  mentioned how you're in need of money, but I also

          7  want to know how that money is going to be spent if

          8  and when it's allocated to embrace these types of

          9  initiatives to be able to see them where they're

         10  going to have the greatest impact.  All the work

         11  that you're doing has reached our communities in

         12  more ways than one, so I just want to continue that

         13  effort.  Thank you.

         14                 CHANCELLOR GOLDSTEIN:  You know about

         15  CUNY on the concourse, which was something that was

         16  very strongly supported by the Council, which is

         17  flourishing in that part of the Bronx.  This effort

         18  in Washington Heights, an effort to do something, as

         19  I said, in the Rockaways given the financial

         20  constraints under which we work, we have to balance

         21  pay off and investment.  I think these three, and

         22  others that may be coming down the line, will always

         23  be done in the kind of thought process that you just

         24  articulated so clearly.

         25                 CHAIRPERSON BARRON:  Thank you very
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          2  much.  Very important line of questioning.  I do

          3  want to commend CUNY for that. I wish we could put a

          4  CUNY recruitment center in front of every military

          5  recruitment center in this City because we don't

          6  need to be going to Iraq and all of that unjust wars

          7  and spending three hundred and some odd, $700

          8  billion to build up a place you tore down, and you

          9  don't have money for us right here.  Congratulations

         10  for CUNY on that one.  That was a good move.  I just

         11  want to recognize Shawn Day Smith, Shadawn Smith,

         12  she's new.  She's going to be working with us.  Give

         13  her a big hand clap.  And Latonya McKenny hiding

         14  over there makes us smart on all of our stuff here,

         15  particularly fine, give Latonya a big hand clap as

         16  well.

         17                 Just two quick, quick questions and

         18  then I just have some closing remarks for you and

         19  then we're finished.  One, first of all, this

         20  Committee should be very, very proud, Miguel, and

         21  all the work that we've done.  It's said so easily

         22  at every hearing, but that $600 million that we got

         23  for capital commitment over a multi- number of years

         24  is history in New York City.  This has never, ever

         25  happened before, and so we usually under Giuliani
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          2  years the State would put in $110 million capital.

          3  He wouldn't match it, so the money would go right

          4  back, and we wouldn't have money like we have now.

          5  We got a three, four, five year commitment for $600

          6  million.  But on that I wanted to ask you, is there

          7  any other State money coming down that the City has

          8  not matched?

          9                 CHANCELLOR GOLDSTEIN:  Yes, the two

         10  are Fiterman Hall and the other is Medgar Evers.

         11                 CHAIRPERSON BARRON:  Medgar Evers and

         12  Fiterman.

         13                 CHANCELLOR GOLDSTEIN:  Yes.

         14                 CHAIRPERSON BARRON:  And that total

         15  is the 30- some odd million?

         16                 CHANCELLOR GOLDSTEIN:  Yes, that's

         17  about $38 million.

         18                 CHAIRPERSON BARRON:  $38 million.  So

         19  that's the two we got to pay?

         20                 CHANCELLOR GOLDSTEIN:  Those are the

         21  two.  Once we have the match, we'll have both of

         22  those fully funded.

         23                 CHAIRPERSON BARRON:  Right.  That's

         24  important.  And then the other piece, on the Mayor's

         25  sustainability study, we're talking about an
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          2  increase of population about a million people over

          3  the next few decades here in New York City.  Has

          4  CUNY been in those meetings at the round table?

          5  Because that's going to impact CUNY as well, this

          6  increase in population.

          7                 CHANCELLOR GOLDSTEIN:  We have been

          8  very actively involved.  The gentleman, who I have

          9  not met, Rohit Acrowella (phonetic), who is the

         10  point person on the Mayor's side.  He's the new

         11  sustainability chief, if you will, for the City of

         12  New York. We've met with him.  CUNY is really

         13  actively involved.  We put a lot of resources into

         14  this, and I have great expectation that this is

         15  going to really work for us.

         16                 CHAIRPERSON BARRON:  And then on CUNY

         17  Prep.

         18                 CHANCELLOR GOLDSTEIN:  Yes.

         19                 CHAIRPERSON BARRON:  The money that

         20   -- I think they got $3.5 million.

         21                 CHANCELLOR GOLDSTEIN:  $3.7 million.

         22                 CHAIRPERSON BARRON:  So what about

         23  the $700,000?

         24                 CHANCELLOR GOLDSTEIN:  We need that

         25  too.
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          2                 CHAIRPERSON BARRON:  You need that

          3  too, huh?  Even when they doubled their budget.

          4                 CHANCELLOR GOLDSTEIN:  I can't think

          5  of anything where we're well funded.

          6                 CHAIRPERSON BARRON:  So we should

          7  continue to fight for $700,000, I just wanted to be

          8  clear.

          9                 CHANCELLOR GOLDSTEIN:  I like

         10  qualifier well.  We're funded but we need to be well

         11  funded.

         12                 CHAIRPERSON BARRON:  Also, I wanted

         13  to commend CUNY on our CUNY TV.  We have some

         14  regional nominees for Emmy's coming out of CUNY TV.

         15  They are Brian Bernard, Barry Mitchell and Tyre

         16  Washington, who's the son of Paul Washington, former

         17  Chief of Staff here.  They've been nominated, and

         18  then Alfonso Cosipio (phonetic) and Jerry Collson

         19  (phonetic), Bruno Giuliani -- is there any

         20  relationship?  Have you done the research, Jay?

         21  Because there will be some changes in this program

         22   --  Bruno Giuliani and Bob Isaacson, we are very

         23  proud of all of them.  I think you have to have an

         24  RSVP or whatever.  I don't want to jam up the

         25  program, but we are going to honor them right here
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          2  on the 30th right here in City Hall Friday from 5 to

          3  7.  We're going to have a special program for them.

          4  A proclamation is going to be given to CUNY TV for

          5  the great work that they've done, and each one of

          6  them will get a citation as well, so we want to

          7  congratulate CUNY on that.  Very, very good work.

          8                 We also want to congratulate CUNY for

          9  the work that we did around the survivors of the

         10  FEMA Bush Hurricane.  The FEMA Bush Hurricane.  I

         11  have renamed it because we survived Katrina.  We

         12  didn't survive FEMA and Bush.  So the survivors of

         13  the FEMA Bush Hurricane, we want to thank CUNY for

         14  opening up its doors and providing higher education

         15  possibilities for several students that came from

         16  the Gulf area and had free tuition, and CUNY, once

         17  again, did a marvelous job in addressing that, so

         18  give CUNY another hand clap on that.

         19                 We want to address the healthcare

         20  issue.  You know, CUNY students, we want you to be

         21  able to have some coverage and healthcare.  We've

         22  had a hearing on that.  That's very, very critical

         23  to us.  We'll be addressing that further down the

         24  road. The woman centers at CUNY, we want to see that

         25  they get funded and that they keep doing the great

                                                            65

          1  COMMITTEE ON HIGHER EDUCATION

          2  work that they do. Disabled students, we're going to

          3  have a hearing on that in April.  We want to make

          4  sure that we have everything as accessible for our

          5  students who are in great, great need.

          6                 And then one that I wasn't going to

          7  mention until I saw Colin Powell's name.  We are

          8  going to have a free speech hearing.  It is not at

          9  this hearing.  This is a budget hearing, but we have

         10  to talk about the question around the Ashada Shakor

         11  (phonetic) sign, and if you can name policy after

         12  Colin Powell, he's not a hero to everybody, he's a

         13  hero to some people.  So people have differences of

         14  opinions of who is a hero and who isn't and who is a

         15  terrorist and who isn't.  Who is a villain and who

         16  isn't.  I think we just now have a little free

         17  speech hearing, a free political expression hearing

         18  and have those conversations.  We don't have to do

         19  it here, but since his name was brought up in the

         20  testimony, it triggered me to think about that, but

         21  this is a budget hearing, but we need to have some

         22  discussion on that.

         23                 So in the future we are going to have

         24  a hearing on that to discuss signage, to discuss how

         25  do we name policies after people, and we have our
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          2  differences of opinion on who's a hero and who's a

          3  villain.

          4                 So, with that said, we have a lot of

          5  work ahead, and I just think that we're going to do

          6  some great things in CUNY.  We have the faculty that

          7  has been doing great work in CUNY, and we're going

          8  to continue to support our faculty and all of the

          9  work that they've done.  We have some of the most

         10  progressive faculty in the City, and we want to

         11  continue to have that.  We want it to be more

         12  diverse, and we're going to struggle around those

         13  issues, the curriculum, the education stuff in CUNY,

         14  and I'm not dismissing you all, I'm just letting him

         15  go.  We have two more presentations, so just hang

         16  around for a minute.  I do want to say you got to

         17  sustain yourself.  I'm watching everybody.  I don't

         18  want to see nobody blinking, nodding off.  I won't

         19  expose you now, but I saw a couple of you take a

         20  little dip, and if I see you again, I am going to

         21  point you out. You know who you are.  If you would

         22  like to confess and raise your hand, you can do that

         23  at this point.  There's one over there.  All right.

         24  The others, I saw you, so I will expose you if it

         25  happens again.  With that, we want to hear from our
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          2  next two panelists, and thank you very much,

          3  Chancellor, and let's keep up the good work.

          4                 Either leave the chambers or have a

          5  seat.  We are still in progress here.  The hearing

          6  is not over.  I think we should encourage you in the

          7  future to stay to hear from the faculty and others,

          8  but if you absolutely must leave, then do that,

          9  leave, but if you can stay, stay and have a seat.

         10                 COUNSEL TO THE COMMITTEE:  Please

         11  raise your right hands.  Do you swear or affirm that

         12  the testimony that you are able to give today is

         13  truthful?  Please state your names for the record

         14  before you begin.

         15                 MR. LONDON:  Steve London

         16                 MS. DESOLA:  Arthurine Desola.

         17                 MR. LONDON:  Good afternoon,

         18  Chairperson Barron. I'm here with Arthurine Desola,

         19  who is the elected Secretary of the Professional

         20  Staff Congress.  She's in her first term, and we're

         21  also joined by our former secretary, you know

         22  Cecelia McCall, who is retired, but you can see that

         23   --

         24                 CHAIRPERSON BARRON:  I just want to

         25  pause for a moment.  We should really acknowledge
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          2  Cecelia.  She has done great work in CUNY, so please

          3  give her a big hand clap.  Eddie Batista, clap for

          4  Cecelia.  Give her a big hand clap because she's

          5  done great work in CUNY.  She's certainly been one

          6  of the more progressive supporters of the issues

          7  around the community, faculties, students, whatever

          8  the issue is, and even in our communities, so we are

          9  honored that you're here today.

         10                 MR. LONDON:  Yes, well, we certainly

         11  share all of those views.  And, also, I want to say

         12  that President Bowen regrets that she wasn't able to

         13  stay, but she had a conflict that was previously

         14  scheduled.

         15                 So now we are in the afternoon, and I

         16  want to also say earlier today I had a chance to

         17  speak to other members of the panel, some of whom

         18  are our members and proud of it, and also graduates

         19  of CUNY, so we know we're here among friends.

         20                 You have always been strong advocates

         21  for New Yorker's right to access to quality public

         22  higher education.  In the past few years you have

         23  been vigilant in seeing to it that CUNY's budget has

         24  made gains and recovered some of the ground lost in

         25  prior years.
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          2                 In this, the year of education

          3  funding, we need the City Council to once again

          4  demonstrate that it has a vision of a strong and

          5  vibrant City University.  A vision of public higher

          6  education that will provide a quality education, one

          7  that will maintain access for all New Yorkers, a

          8  vision that recognizes CUNY is a critical economic

          9  resource for the City, and one that provides a

         10  programmatic support for students once they are in

         11  attendance. Since this vision is yet to be fully

         12  realized, the time is now to invest in CUNY.  While

         13  we are grateful for your past support and thank you

         14  for your continuing willingness to provide the

         15  resources to educate the children of the whole

         16  people, our collective work is not done.  In real

         17  dollars, City funding for CUNY is still 17 percent

         18  lower than it was in 1990, while, as you heard

         19  earlier, CUNY enrollment is at a 31 year high.

         20                 More than half of our courses in the

         21  community colleges are still taught by higher

         22  exploited adjuncts, who have little time to meet

         23  with students given the fact that they must move

         24  from campus to campus.

         25                 Progress on diversity hiring of
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          2  faculty has been too slow in large measure because

          3  of our non- competitive salaries.  You heard the

          4  Chancellor speak of that earlier.  This leaves CUNY

          5  with a faculty that is 35 percent Black, Latino,

          6  Hispanic, Asian and Native American and a student

          7  population that is 72 percent students of color.

          8                 In 1975 there were 5,000 more full-

          9  time faculty than there are today.  As a result of

         10  these factors, too many of our students do not get

         11  the counseling and mentoring services they need to

         12  stay in school and succeed.  Chairman, you spoke

         13  earlier about how we needed to have an integrated

         14  approach, and programs had to be integrated into the

         15  fabric of the University.  I see, if you think about

         16  these trends, we clearly have to reverse each one of

         17  these trends in order to have a really integrated

         18  approach to dealing with maintaining the students

         19  and serving the students.

         20                 Despite the continuing need, the

         21  Mayor's Preliminary Operating Budget for CUNY does

         22  not permit the University to move forward.  The

         23  Mayor's Budget does not fully cover operating costs

         24  and financial aid needs.  Uncorrected, CUNY and its

         25  students will suffer, and we will move backwards
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          2  rather than continue to repair the years of

          3  underfunding.  The PSC urges the City Council to

          4  restore needed dollars to the Mayor's Budget and to

          5  continue its historic commitment to invest in the

          6  economic, cultural and intellectual well being of

          7  New Yorkers by approving a net increase in the

          8  funding for CUNY.

          9                 The Mayor's Preliminary Operating

         10  Budget cuts vital programs like the Black Male

         11  Initiative, the Citizen Immigration Project and

         12  Science and Math and Nursing scholarships.  The

         13  historic programs initiated by the City Council, the

         14  Vallone Scholars, and the Safety Net Financial

         15  Assistance Program, which we've talked about at a

         16  breakfast a few years ago, has been cut.

         17                 Additional dollars provided through

         18  City Council member items have also been cut.  Taken

         19  together, these programmatic reductions total $27.4

         20  million.  The PSC requests the City Council to

         21  restore these necessary programmatic initiatives. We

         22  also need to fund fully all the mandatory costs. The

         23  Mayor's Preliminary Budget failed to fund $25.1

         24  million in operating for energy and fringe benefits.

         25    The PSC supports CUNY's request for funding all of
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          2  these items.

          3                 CUNY's original funding request for

          4  the community colleges included revenue from tuition

          5  increases.  The PSC opposes these tuition increases,

          6  and we are pleased that Governor Spitzer has

          7  rejected tuition increases as a funding mechanism in

          8  his Fiscal Year 2008 budget request.  Without the

          9  tuition increases for the community colleges,

         10  however, there is a gap in fully funding CUNY's

         11  request.  Therefore, the PSC requests that the City

         12  Council fully fund CUNY's budget request by

         13  providing an additional $6.4 million to replace what

         14  they had counted on through tuition increases.

         15                 The Mayor's Preliminary Budget

         16  proposes $17 million in funding for some new

         17  initiatives, such as the ASAP Program and other

         18  budget items.  The PSC supports these initiatives,

         19  but these increases should not come at the expense

         20  of existing and planned programs.  Taken together,

         21  fully funding CUNY's operating budget request will

         22  require $58.9 million above the Mayor's preliminary

         23  budget request.

         24                 The PSC also supports the request for

         25  capital improvements that you heard earlier, $39
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          2  million, and those are for Medgar Evers and for

          3  Fiterman.

          4                 The PSC is also proposing our own

          5  initiative, the City Council Scholars and Diversity

          6  Program.  The PSC requests a programmatic investment

          7  that would provide funds for 200 additional faculty

          8  and professional staff for the community colleges

          9  with an emphasis on diversity hiring, mentoring

         10  students and hiring needed faculty counselors.  This

         11  new initiative would cost $12 million.

         12                 Now that there is a renewed effort to

         13  fund K through 12 education and provide New York

         14  City children with resources needed to get a quality

         15  education, it is important to recognize that a 21st

         16  century education is K through post- grad.  We know

         17  that a high school diploma is not enough to advance

         18  one into the middle class.  Higher education is

         19  necessary for personal advancement and an investment

         20  in public higher education is necessary for societal

         21  advancement.  The City Council has stood by CUNY in

         22  leaner times, and we believe the time is now to make

         23  the investment that will continue CUNY's journey on

         24  a road to becoming a first class University able to

         25  serve all the people of New York City, and we know
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          2  that we can count on you and look forward to working

          3  with you in the coming weeks and months to be sure

          4  that these monies are restored.

          5                 CHAIRPERSON BARRON:  Thank you very

          6  much for your testimony.

          7                 MR. LONDON:  Arthurine Desola has

          8  testimony as well.

          9                 MS. DESOLA:  Good afternoon,

         10  Councilman Barron.

         11                 CHAIRPERSON BARRON:  Good afternoon.

         12                 MS. DESOLA:  Councilman Barron,

         13  distinguished members of the Committee and friends,

         14  my name is Arthurine Desola, and I am secretary of

         15  the Professional Staff Congress.  As a relatively

         16  new officer of the PSC, I have not had the honor of

         17  speaking to you before, but I have a long history at

         18  CUNY, and I look forward at working with the

         19  Council.

         20                 Steve London has presented the PSC's

         21  budget request, and Barbara Barron, who

         22  unfortunately, Barbara Bowen, rather, who

         23  unfortunately was not here today.

         24                 CHAIRPERSON BARRON:  Did you say

         25  Barbara Barron?
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          2                 MS. DESOLA:  I said it should be

          3  Barbara Bowen.

          4                 CHAIRPERSON BARRON:  You were going

          5  to get me in trouble.

          6                 MS. DESOLA:  I know.

          7                 CHAIRPERSON BARRON:  This is for the

          8  record, you know.

          9                 MS. DESOLA:  That is not my

         10  intention, my apologies.

         11                 CHAIRPERSON BARRON:  Inez, if you're

         12  watching this, it was a mistake.  That's my wife's

         13  name is Inez, just in case she's watching it on T.V.

         14  when it presents itself.  Okay, you may proceed.

         15                 MS. DESOLA:  Thank you.  I will speak

         16  briefly about the students at CUNY and why this is a

         17  critical budget year for them.  I have worked at

         18  CUNY for 30 years, throughout that time serving as

         19  both faculty and staff at both LaGuardia and

         20  Queensborough Community Colleges but always working

         21  with students. I am counselor working directly with

         22  CUNY students, especially those who are placed under

         23  greatest stress by poverty and the lack of resources

         24  at CUNY.

         25                 I can tell you from those 30 years of
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          2  intense, daily experience with students in need that

          3  it is the students who suffer when New York City

          4  fails to invest in CUNY.  Everyone in City

          5  government says that they are interested in having

          6  students succeed, but it is shortsighted to expect

          7  some of the poorest college students in the country

          8  paying the country's third highest community college

          9  tuition to succeed academically if their public

         10  university is starved of funds.

         11                 Students who have been subject to

         12  poverty and often racism all their lives simply will

         13  not excel in their only chance at college.  These

         14  are precisely the students who need more one- on-

         15  one attention by full- time faculty than students

         16  who come from privileged backgrounds, not less.  The

         17  students need more faculty counselors and not fewer.

         18    If New York City is serious about wanting the

         19  children of working people, the poor, new immigrants

         20  and people of color to succeed, it must not allow

         21  CUNY to continue to be vastly underresourced.  As a

         22  counselor, I know the difference it makes when an

         23  advisor has time to spend with a student who is at

         24  risk of failing in what is likely to be his or her

         25  only chance for a college education.  I have been
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          2  part of making that difference, and I ask you to

          3  make it possible for every CUNY student.

          4                 New York City has the largest budget

          5  surplus in its history.  CUNY remains one of the

          6  City's most underfinanced institutions, having fully

          7  recovered from the fiscal crisis, yet CUNY is one of

          8  New York's most important resources.  It's an

          9  economic engine whose graduates pump $15 billion a

         10  year into the State's economy and a cultural

         11  powerhouse for the City.

         12                 On behalf of CUNY's 20,000 faculty

         13  and staff and its 200,000 students, I urge you not

         14  to let this year of surplus go by without making a

         15  substantial investment in CUNY.  Thank you.

         16                 CHAIRPERSON BARRON:  Well, we thank

         17  you very much for your testimony.  I want to welcome

         18  Council Member Gale Brewer from Manhattan, and we

         19  welcome you, and we're looking forward to a

         20  longlasting relationship with you.  Welcome to your

         21  new position.

         22                 MS. DESOLA:  Thank you.

         23                 CHAIRPERSON BARRON:  And I think

         24  we're going to accomplish some great things

         25  together.  I did have a couple of questions.  One,
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          2  I'm very suspect of the Compact program, you know,

          3  even though they assure us that it's not leading to

          4  privatization. I think it is a step in that

          5  direction.  I'm concerned about the incremental

          6  increases in tuition in the program, and I do think

          7  it gives the State an out when they say to you, we

          8  want to see what you want you to increase on the

          9  private sector and increase on tuition, and then

         10  we'll see what we're putting in.  What is your

         11  opinion about that?

         12                 MR. LONDON:  We testified to the

         13  Board of Trustees and made exactly those points.  We

         14  share your view.  I would add one other important

         15  perspective, and that is that when you look at the

         16  Compact, the basic idea is that the State will fund

         17  the mandatory costs and that the programmatic

         18  increases will come from private dollars and from

         19  tuition.  When you look at the figures, what you see

         20  is that the vast majority of those monies is really

         21  coming from tuition.  I believe, if memory serves me

         22  correctly, about 75 percent in this year's Compact

         23  of the programmatic initiatives comes from tuition

         24  increases.

         25                 The actual amount of money this year
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          2  and the programmatic advances that are funded by

          3  private funds, after all, tuition is private money

          4  too, that comes from those private funds, is

          5  relatively small in CUNY's own budget.  There were

          6  only 200 new lines that are advanced as part of this

          7  year's Compact initiative. At that rate, it will

          8  take us 32 years to get back to where we were in

          9  1975 and to do the kinds of things that we need to

         10  get to the 70 percent goal that the Compact

         11  proclaims.

         12                 Anybody who can do math should

         13  quickly see that if you're going to fund the kind of

         14  programmatic initiatives that are really needed in

         15  this university, and they're going to come largely

         16  from tuition, the claims that tuition will be able

         17  to be kept low is, I think, a false proposition.

         18  And what we will see is either more demands for

         19  higher tuition for CUNY's needs to be met, or we

         20  will continue to be starved, and the students will

         21  continue to bear the increasing costs of an

         22  underfunded university.

         23                 CHAIRPERSON BARRON:  The other

         24  question I wanted to ask, we get bounced back and

         25  forth on this question of diversifying the faculty.
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          2  When I talk to Administration, they say, you guys

          3  are the Department Chairs and Heads, and they're

          4  going through a process, and they're just hiring.

          5  Who is responsible for diversifying the faculty

          6  because that 35 percent people of color when it's 70

          7  percent plus students just has to be dealt with.

          8  But every time I get bounced both ways.  You say

          9  it's them.  They say it's you, so who has the

         10  responsibility of really making that happen?

         11                 MR. LONDON:  Well, I think we all

         12  have the responsibility to make it happen.  I can

         13  speak for faculty searches that I know about and I'm

         14  been part of where there is a major effort to

         15  attract diverse pool.  But what happens is that when

         16  we get down to the finalists, very often the Black

         17  faculty member or Latino faculty prospective

         18  candidate has offers from other universities that

         19  will be able to give them start- up packages,

         20  housing, childcare, lower course load.  In terms of

         21  advancement, in terms of a career, that package

         22  looks much more attractive even when they are

         23  committed and want to be part of CUNY.  So we lose

         24  candidates.  We lose a lot of candidates.

         25                 CHAIRPERSON BARRON:  Well, let me
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          2  just interrupt there for a second.  Isn't that true

          3  for all faculty?  The same thing is offered to white

          4  faculty members.  They get more attractive offers

          5  and you're still able to have white students and

          6  white faculty at CUNY.  I don't know, maybe the

          7  net's not wide enough?  There's got to be some that

          8  are willing to accept the CUNY package, and how come

          9  white faculty can accept, and I'm sure they get

         10  offers that are more attractive than CUNY's offer?

         11                 MR. LONDON:  We lose a lot of white

         12  faculty too and top candidates.  It's because --

         13                 CHAIRPERSON BARRON:  But you're able

         14  to maintain 65 percent, or 50, 60 percent white

         15  faculty and only 35 faculty of color.  I'm just

         16  trying to find out why that's happening.

         17                 MR. LONDON:  Well, I understand.

         18  It's very troubling.  The net needs to be cast as

         19  wide as possible, but if you look at the national

         20  statistics, the number of Ph.D.'s, minority Ph.D's

         21  is not rising fast enough, and it's a very

         22  competitive national market.  Often times there are

         23  stellar candidates, and they're chosen certainly by

         24  our search committees. People are interested in

         25  them, but the competition is fiercer.
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          2                 And that's why we are proposing this

          3  City Council scholars program because we need to

          4  have money that set aside. We've also made the

          5  request at the State level too, to have monies that

          6  are targeted to help relocate, to provide start- up

          7  funds, to provide some of the important supports

          8  that are necessary to make sure that we can attract

          9  faculty of color.  I think it's a very, very

         10  important initiative for us.

         11                 CHAIRPERSON BARRON:  Well, I'm going

         12  to support it again.  I supported it last time.  We

         13  didn't get it through last time, but I think we need

         14  to redouble our commitments and our efforts to try

         15  to get it through this time, so you have my support

         16  on that because I think that is a step in the right

         17  direction.

         18                 MR. LONDON:  Right, and it's only a

         19  step.  We have internally within the union we have

         20  affirmative action officers that we've taken the

         21  initiative to place in each chapter to help educate

         22  our members and to make sure that we will move

         23  forward and keep the consciousness high among our

         24  members of the importance of attracting and hiring

         25  faculty of color.
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          2                 CHAIRPERSON BARRON:  Council Member

          3  Brewer, you have any questions?

          4                 COUNCIL MEMBER BREWER:  Thank you for

          5  your leadership on this, Mr. Chair.  I was just

          6  wondering in terms of funding that could go towards

          7  the Ph.D. Program at CUNY.  Is that something that's

          8  also part of what you talked about with the Chair?

          9  In other words, is there some way in which we could

         10  increase the Ph.D. Pipeline?  Or is that something

         11  that you're already doing as part of -- you think

         12  the University is already doing?

         13                 MR. LONDON:  Well, I think, first of

         14  all, the graduate center, the funds largely come

         15  from the State.  While our initiative is targeted to

         16  the community colleges and we have applied in our

         17  budget that we submit to the State we want money to

         18  come in from them for the senior colleges,

         19  nonetheless, we're certainly willing to expand the

         20  program as well.

         21                 I think in terms of our students, one

         22  of the big problems that we have in our Ph.D.

         23  Program is that our graduate assistants do not have

         24  healthcare, and that is part of the package that

         25  attracts Ph.D students to universities.
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          2                 COUNCIL MEMBER BREWER:  I was

          3  actually doing a project at the graduate center for

          4  almost three years, and I think along the issue of

          5  packages it's tough to get funding, not only for

          6  faculty packages, but Ph.D student packages.  What

          7  happens is, you are offered, as a top student, a

          8  package with a fellowship at another university, and

          9  you will take it, whereas at CUNY you get

         10  fellowships -- I know many of the students there.  I

         11  know what they do, but it's not as rich a package,

         12  so I guess that's another perhaps hearing topic,

         13  working with the State, obviously.

         14                 But the question is, if you don't

         15  have a pipeline, then you don't have the faculty

         16  that you're trying to -- I just know those students

         17  struggle very hard.  They're extraordinary students,

         18  and they don't have that kind of pipeline

         19  possibility, and that's maybe why others don't come

         20  up through it is because they don't have the

         21  package, even just beginning to get into the

         22  program, not to mention graduating from it, so it's

         23  another possible topic.

         24                 MR. LONDON:  Yes, we do represent

         25  graduate employees, and in collective bargaining we
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          2  are demanding health packages.  SUNY graduate

          3  students have healthcare, and it's very important

          4  for our graduate students to have that as part of

          5  the package.

          6                 CHAIRPERSON BARRON:  Well, thank you

          7  very much for your testimony, and thank you all of

          8  you for participating, particularly our staff.  Is

          9  there another.  Oh, I'm sorry.  There's another

         10  testimony.  Thank you.

         11                 MR. LONDON:  Okay.  Thank you very

         12  much.

         13                 COUNSEL TO THE COMMITTEE:  Could you

         14  raise your right hand?  Do you swear or affirm that

         15  the testimony you will give today will be truthful?

         16                 MS. DUNHAM:  Yes, Committee Counsel.

         17  I can't identify the panel.

         18                 CHAIRPERSON BARRON:  You may proceed

         19  with your testimony.  This is Council Member Brewer

         20  and our staff members. Barbara Helms is the Counsel

         21  of our Committee, and Sawosoo (phonetic) is the

         22  policy analyst.

         23                 MS. DUNHAM:  How are you, Mr. Chair?

         24                 CHAIRPERSON BARRON:  I'm fine, thank

         25  you.
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          2                 MS. DUNHAM:  Kay Dunham.  What I

          3  would like to see or what I would like to have it

          4  Kingsborough Community College, three credits, three

          5  hours for three hours' work in chorus with an

          6  opportunity to repeat registration.  We would like

          7  for it to be approved.  We're not getting our

          8  credits right now because we're repeating constantly

          9  doing chorus year in and year out.  The music is

         10  different each season, so I think we're supposed to

         11  be accredited for it.

         12                 The return of our symphony orchestra

         13  and all the bands that were lost, excellent symphony

         14  orchestra.  Night and day budget for chorus, restore

         15  the budget with a cost of living allowance.  The

         16  funds are to be locked in.  Funds cannot be used for

         17  any other purpose.  Source of funding, my reference

         18  is pages 2, 4 and 5 in Committee on Higher

         19  Education.

         20                 Removal of distressing models in the

         21  Art Department. I can utilize the funds for the

         22  models for a real educational program.

         23                 Transportation needs to be improved

         24  at the college. Page 4, preliminary budget capital.

         25                 Please repair the roof of T8 at
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          2  Kingsborough Community College.  Thank you for the

          3  opportunity to speak.

          4                 CHAIRPERSON BARRON:  We thank you for

          5  waiting around this long to speak.  We thank you for

          6  the testimony.  It is on record, and we took notes

          7  of your concerns, and we will take them up at staff.

          8    Thank you very much for your testimony.

          9                 MS. DUNHAM:  Thank you.  It's nice to

         10  see you again, Mr. Chair.

         11                 CHAIRPERSON BARRON:  My pleasure.

         12  Thank you very much.  That concludes our

         13  testimonies, and this hearing is adjourned.

         14                 (Meeting adjourned 12:25 p.m.)
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